
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

April 18, 2023 5:30 pm 
pppp.M. 

 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 

 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Venus Mack  

 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations 

 

A) Recognition of Statesboro Police Officers APO Arion Waters and Corporal Josh 

Harris along with two citizens Bailee Brown and Whitney Dame for their life saving 

actions on March 29, 2023. 

 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 04-04-2023 Council Minutes 

b) 04-04-2023 Executive Session Minutes 

 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 23-03-

04: Long Company Limited requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the CR 

(Commercial Retail) zoning district to the R-3 (Medium-Density Residential) zoning 

district on approximately 2.65 acres of property in order to construct approximately 7 

triplexes at 310 Myrtle Crossing Drive. 

 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve an alcohol license in 

accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance section 6-13 (a): 

PSH Stadium Development 

100 Tormenta Way 

Statesboro, Ga 30458 

License Type: Event Venue 

 

8. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-18: A Resolution of the City of 

Statesboro Mayor and Council to permanently change the polling place for the Statesboro 

One voting precinct from William James Educational Complex to the Luetta Moore 

building.  

 

9. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-19: A Resolution to award a 

contract to Gilbert & Associates to provide grant writing and administration services for 

the FY2023 Community Development Block Grant.  

 



 

 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-20: A Resolution to award a 

contract to WSP to provide engineering services for the FY2023 Community 

Development Block Grant.  

 

11. Consideration of a motion to allow the Statesboro Fire Department to purchase three (3) 

Self-contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA), eighteen (18) SCBA Cylinders and ten (10) 

SCBA Face pieces for an amount of $44,768.42 from Fisher Scientific. 

 

12. Consideration of a motion to award a contract for professional engineering and right-of-

way services of the West Main Street Intersection Improvements project to Atlas 

Technical Consultants LLC (Atlas) in the not to exceed amount of $399,800.00. The 

project work will be paid from TSPLOST Funds. 

 

13. Consideration of a motion to award a contract to Y-Delta Inc. in the amount of 

$225,667.17 for the Briarwood Road Water Project. The project will be paid from Water 

Sewer Enterprise Fund Revenues. 

 

14. Other Business from City Council 

 

15.  City Managers Comments 

 

16. Public Comments (General) 

 

17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 









 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 

APRIL 04, 2023 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      9:00 AM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 

2. Invocation and Pledge 
Councilmember Paulette Chavers gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

ATTENDENCE  
Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Present    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Absent   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 

Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Recognitions and Public Presentations; 

A) Presentation of a Proclamation recognizing April 2023 as Child Abuse Prevention Month. 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar read and presented a proclamation to Lora Cooper, Executive Director or PCA Bulloch, 
recognizing April 2023 as Child Abuse Prevention month.  
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 03-21-2023 Council Minutes 
b) 03-21-2023 Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion for approval of surplus and disposition of a 2006 Chevrolet 
Impala in the Planning & Development department.  

 

A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



2 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13(a): 

 
Blue Mile Wine & Spirits  
12 Brannen Street  
License Type: Package sales Beer, Wine, and Distilled Spirits 
 

A Motion was made to open the public hearing.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve the application of an alcohol license for Package Sales: Beer, Wine, and Distilled Spirits 
to: Blue Mile Wine & Spirits located at 12 Brannen Street.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



 

3 
 

7. Public hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol license in 
accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 
 

A) AMC Statesboro 12 
991 Lovett Road 
License Type: Restaurant 

B) Blue Mile Pizza 
408 South Main Street 
License Type: Restaurant 

 
A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
No one spoke for or against the request.  
 
A Motion was made to close the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A Motion was made to approve the application of an alcohol license for the license type: Restaurant to: AMC Statesboro 
12 located at 991 Lovett Road and Blue Mile Pizza located at 408 South Main Street.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



4 
 

8. Consideration of a motion to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell 
Engineering Inc. in the amount not to exceed $40,320.00 to provide design, bid, grant 
application and contract administration services for the extension of sanitary sewer service 
inside of Bruce Yawn Commerce Park to serve Aspen Aerogels. To be paid for with Grant 
Proceeds and System Revenues.  

 
A motion was made to approve a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell Engineering Inc. in the amount 
not to exceed $40,320.00 to provide design, bid, grant application and contract administration services for the extension 
of sanitary sewer service inside of Bruce Yawn Commerce Park to serve Aspen Aerogels. To be paid for with Grant 
Proceeds and System Revenues.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

9. Consideration of a motion to execute a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell 
Engineering Inc. in the amount not to exceed $93,870.00 to provide design, bid, easement 
acquisition services and contract administration services for the extension of sanitary sewer 
service to the Ramble Road Subdivision. To be paid for with ARPA funds approved in CIP 
Project #32-E. 

 
A motion was made to approve a Professional Services Agreement with Hussy, Gay, Bell Engineering Inc. in the amount 
not to exceed $93,870.00 to provide design, bid, easement acquisition services and contract administration services for 
the extension of sanitary sewer service to the Ramble Road Subdivision. To be paid for with ARPA funds approved in 
CIP Project #32-E.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



 

5 
 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve selection of Goodwin Mills Cawood and authorize the 
City Manager to negotiate a contract with Bulloch County for the Statesboro-Bulloch County 
Long Range Transportation Plan to be paid with TSPOST funds. Final contract to be 
approved by City Council at a later date.  

 
A motion was made to approve selection of Goodwin Mills Cawood and authorize the City Manager to negotiate a 
contract with Bulloch County for the Statesboro-Bulloch County Long Range Transportation Plan to be paid with 
TSPOST funds. Final contract to be approved by City Council at a later date.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to approve the purchase of a 2023 Ford Explorer for the Statesboro 
Fire Department, for an amount not to exceed $55,000.00. 

 
A motion was made to approve the purchase of a 2023 Ford Explorer for the Statesboro Fire Department, for an amount 
not to exceed $55,000.00.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

12. Other Business from City Council:  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr congratulated Councilmember Paulette Chavers for winning the storybook character contest 
for the Ferst Readers fundraiser and for being nominated to serve as the GMA 12th district 3rd Vice President.  
Councilmember Phil Boyum stated that he completed the City Gym tour and suggested adding going to the gym a part 
of Public works employee’s routine/work schedule.  
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr announced that the City is hiring 19 firefighters and open interviews will be held on April 
12, 2023.  
City Manager Charles Penny announced that this evening the City is hosting a job fair on Georgia Southern Campus at 
the Nesmith Lane Center from 4 pm – 7 pm.  
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr shared that Earth Day celebration week is April 17 – 21 and anyone who is interested in 
making Statesboro greener, cleaner, happier and a healthier place may stop by DSDA from 2 pm – 4 pm to receive 
information on where the work area is for that day.  
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



6 
 

13. City Managers Comments: None 
 

14. Public Comments (General): None 
 

15. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 

 
At 9:26 am a motion was made to enter into executive session.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
At 11:14 am a motion was made to exit executive session.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the regular meeting back to order with no action taken in executive session.  
 
A motion was made to appoint Andrew Long to the Statesboro Tree Board.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
City Manager Charles Penny reminded everyone that this Friday April 7th we will be off for the Good Friday holiday.  
 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar announced that one of the Statesboro Area Transit buses is outside to see and take a few 
photos.  
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



 

7 
 

 
16. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 

 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:16 am. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember John Riggs 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

 
 

 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  

Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   

www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 

From: Justin Williams, Planning & Housing Administrator 

 

Date: April 10, 2023 

 

RE: April 18, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 

 

Policy Issue: Statesboro Zoning Ordinance: Zoning Map Amendment Request 

 

Recommendation: Staff recommends Denial of the Zoning Map Amendment 

Requested by RZ 23-03-04.  

 

Background: Long Company Limited requests a Zoning Map Amendment from 

the CR (Commercial Retail) zoning district to the R-3 (Medium-Density 

Residential) zoning district on approximately 2.65 acres of property in order to 

construct approximately 7 triplexes at 310 Myrtle Crossing Drive (Tax Parcel # 

MS48000011 053). 

 

Budget Impact: None 

 

Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1)  

 

Attachments: Development Services Report (RZ 23-03-04) 

 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


 

  

City of Statesboro-Department of Planning and Development 

ZONING SERVICES REPORT 
P.O. Box 348    (912) 764-0630 

Statesboro, Georgia 30458  (912) 764-0664 (Fax) 

 RZ 23-03-04 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT REQUEST 

310 MYRTLE CROSSING DRIVE 

LOCATION: 310 Myrtle Crossing Drive  

EXISTING 
ZONING: 

CR (Commercial Retail) 

ACRES: 2.65 acres  

PARCEL 
TAX  

MAP #: 

MS48000011 053 

COUNCIL        
DISTRICT:            

District 1 (Boyum)  

EXISTING 
USE: 

Undeveloped Lot 

PROPOSED 
USE: 

Triplex Development  

PETITIONER                 Long Company Limited 

ADDRESS                     108 Towhee Trail; Statesboro GA, 30458 

 

REPRESENTATIVE     JNCJ LLC 

ADDRESS                    2356 Middleground Road; Statesboro GA, 30458 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is requesting a Zoning Map Amendment from the CR (Commercial Retail) 
zoning district to the R3 (Medium-Density Residential) zoning district on a portion of the 
2.65 acres of land at 310 Myrtle Crossing Drive, to build 7 triplexes.   

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

RZ 23-03-04 DENIAL 

 

 

 



Page 2 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

 



Page 3 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

  



Page 4 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

 



Page 5 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUBJECT SITE 

SURROUNDING LAND USES/ZONING 

Location Parcel Location & Zoning Information Land Use 

North Location Area #1: R25 (Single-Family Residential)  Undeveloped Land 

Northeast Location Area #2: O (Office) Office Complex 

Northwest Location Area #3: R-25 (Single-Family Residential)  Undeveloped Land 

East Location Area #4: R20 (Single Family Residential) Single Family Home 

West Location Area #5: CR (Commercial Retail) Undeveloped Lot 

Southwest Location Area #6: O (Office) Mortuary 

Southeast Location Area #7: R20 (Single Family Residential)  Single-Family Home 

South Location Area #8: O (Office)  Accounting Office 



Page 6 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

The subject site is a vacant 2.65 acre lot. There has been no development on the site. This 
property is at the end of Myrtle Crossing Drive and fronts Highway 80 East. Originally the 
plan for the area consisted of a transitional zoning from the Highway into the neighborhood 
with commercial and office on the Highway, and a lower density neighborhood on the other 
side. This area was originally proposed to be a professional office park and the parking are 
laid out for this purpose. One office complex has already been located there.  

The City of Statesboro 2019 – 2029 Comprehensive Master Plan designates the subject 
site in the a local gateway, but also “Established Residential Neighborhood” area, with the 
established residential area being characterized by traditional neighborhoods that were 
developed from the late 19th to mid-20th century, featuring connected grid streets and 
neighborhood scale commercial development.  

ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS 

The subject property does not contain wetlands and is not located in a flood plain.  

COMMUNITY FACILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION 

The subject property can access both city water and sewer.  

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT STANDARDS FOR DETERMINATION 

The mayor and city council in exercising its zoning power, shall be governed by the 
following standards in making its determination and balancing the promotions of the public 
health, safety, morality [morals] and general welfare against the right of unrestricted use of 
property: 

1. Existing uses and zoning or [of] property nearby.  

 The proposed use is of a much higher residential density than the 
surrounding uses, and are of a different nature in comparison to the original 
development. It is staff’s opinion that the current zoning is appropriate.  

2. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning 
restrictions. 

 Although an appraisal has not been conducted on the property, it is Staff’s 
opinion that the proposal will likely decrease the value of the surrounding 
properties.  

3. The extent to which the description of property values of the property 
owner promotes the health, safety, morals or general welfare of the public. 

 The surrounding properties are one of few purpose built subdivisions in 
the City and have not had any drastic changes in surrounding use since 
construction.  

 
4. The relative gain to the public, as compared to the hardship imposed upon 

the property owner. 

 The site has been vacant since development of the adjacent 
neighborhood, and office complex. 
 

5. The suitability of the subject property for the zoned purposes. 



Page 7 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

 Initial evaluation of the property does cause concern regarding the 
adjacent neighborhood. At this time it has not been determined what 
possible restrictions may be associated with the subdivision.   

6. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in 
the context of land development in the area in the vicinity of the property. 

 The property has historically been vacant.  
 

7. The extent the proposed change would impact the following:  

 Population density in the area.  
o Population density would increase with the number of proposed 

units.  

 Community facilities.  
o The development would increase the use on utilities.  

 Living conditions in the area.  
o The living conditions in the area are not likely to change 

immediately.  

 Traffic patterns and congestion.  
o There would be an increase in traffic in the area. 

 Environmental aspects.  
o Greenspace would need to be included as commercial and higher 

density residential development are bound by all requirements in 
the tree ordinance.  

 Existing and future land use patterns.  
o As the site is adjacent to the highway the zoning transitions into the 

neighborhood with only one nearby area containing higher density 
residential development.  

 Property values in the adjacent areas. 
o The development of this project will create new tax revenue for the 

City, but may not increase general property values in the area.  
 

8. Consistency with other governmental land use, transportation, and 
development plans for the community.  

 The proposed residential development does not appear to be consistent 
with the 2019-2029 Statesboro Comprehensive Master Plan. The 
“Established Residential” character area calls for Neighborhood scale 
retail and commercial development, and single-family residential 
development. The “Gateway Area” is generally meant to guide specific 
types of development regarding architectural compatibility and vehicular 
traffic.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Page 8 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

 
 

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN 

 



Page 9 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

 
Subject Property 

 
 

Northern Property 

 



Page 10 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

 
Western Property 

 
 

Eastern Property 

 
 



Page 11 of 11 

Development Services Report 

Case RZ 23-03-04 

 

 
 

 

STAFF/PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends Denial of RZ 23-03-04 as it is staff’s position that the proposed use is 
inconsistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. If this petition is approved by the Mayor 
and City Council, it should be subject to the applicant’s agreement to the following enumerated 
condition(s): 

1. Approval of this zoning map amendment does not grant the right to develop on the 
property. All construction must be reviewed and approved by the City.  

2. Amenities must be provided at a percentage in accordance with the R-2 (Townhouse 
Residential) district regulations.  

At the regularly scheduled meeting of the Planning Commission on Tuesday April 4, 2023, the 
Commission recommended denial of Application RZ 23-03-04 with a 4-0 vote.  

 

 

 



CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 4/11/2023 

RE: PSH Stadium Development LLC

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Venus Mack, District 3 

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 

























PSH Stadium Development 

100 Tormenta Way 

Statesboro, Ga 30458 

 

 

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name. 

 

Alcohol License Review  

           

 Department           Full Name    Recommendation                               Comments 

 

Planning & 
Development 
 

Jermaine 
Foster 

Approved This applicant submitted their proximity map 

and it was approved. Their zoning is CR 

which is allowed to receive an alcohol 

license. 03/01/2023 

Fire Department SH Approved  

    

Police 
Department 

Jared 
Akins 

Approve  

Legal Cain Smith Approve  

    

 

 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
To: Charles Penny, City Manager  
 
From: Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
Date: April 12, 2023 
 
RE: April 18, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: O.C.G.A. § 21-2-265(a) provides that the Governing Authority shall 
select and fix the polling place within each voting precinct, and may change the 
polling place within any precinct.  
 
Recommendation: Approve 
 
Background: The current polling place for the Statesboro One voting precinct is 
the William James Education Complex and is no longer available for the use of 
municipal elections. The Luetta Moore Building is in close proximity to William 
James and is available for municipal elections. The Luetta Moore Building will 
provide more space to adequately accommodate poll workers, election 
equipment, and voters 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: Boyum (District 1) & Chavers (District 2) 
 
Attachments: Resolution 2023-18 & Affidavit of Publication 



1 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
COUNTY OF BULLOCH 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2023 - 18 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF STATESBORO MAYOR AND COUNCIL TO 
PERMANENTLY CHANGE THE POLLING PLACE FOR THE STATESBORO ONE 
VOTING PRECINCT; TO AUTHORIZE THE PUBLICATION AND POSTING OF 
NOTICES OF SAID CHANGE IN ACCORDANCE WITH LAW; TO ESTABLISH AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES. 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro Mayor and Council is the Governing Authority for the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia; and 
 
 WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-265(a) provides that the Governing Authority shall select 
and fix the polling place within each voting precinct, and may change the polling place within any 
precinct; and  
 
 WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-265(a) further provides that the Govering Authority shall 
not change any polling place until notice of the proposed change shall have been published for 
once a week for two consecutive weeks in the legal organ for the county in which the polling place 
is located; and 
 
 WHEREAS, O.C.G.A. § 21-2-265(f) provides that a polling place shall not be changed on 
a day in which a primary, election, or runoff is held, or during the 60 day period prior to any 
general primary or general election or runoff from such primary or election, nor shall a polling 
place be changed in the 30 day period prior to any special primary or special election or runoff 
from such special primary or special election, except, in the discretion of the superintendent, when 
an emergency or event occurs during such time period which renders the polling place unavailable; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the current polling place for the Statesboro One voting precinct is the William 
James Educational Complex, 150 Williams Road, Statesboro, Georgia 30458; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro finds that the Luetta Moore Building is more suitable 
for a permanent polling place location than the William James Educational Complex in that the 
Luetta Moore Building will provide more space to adequately accommodate poll workers, election 
equipment, and voters, and the Statesboro Mayor and Council therefore desires to permanently 
relocate the polling place for the Statesboro One voting precinct to the Luetta Moore Building; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Luetta Moore Building is located within the current boundaries of the 
Statesboro One voting precinct; and 
 



2 
 

 WHEREAS, the notice of the proposed change attached hereto as Exhibit “A” has been 
published in the Statesboro Herald, which is the legal organ for Bulloch County, on Thursday, 
March 30, 2023 and again on Thursday, April 6, 2023; and  
 
 WHEREAS, there is no primary, election, or runoff scheduled within 60 days of April 18, 
2023, nor is there any special primary or special election or runoff from such special primary or 
special election scheduled within 30 days of April 18, 2023, which is the date of this resolution; 
  
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Statesboro Mayor and Council as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  The City of Statesboro Mayor and Council, on its own motion, hereby 
permanently changes the location of the polling place for the Statesboro One voting precinct to the 
following location: 
     Luetta Moore Building 
     585 Martin Luther King Jr. Drive 
     Statesboro, Georgia 30458 
 
 Section 2.  In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 21-2-265(a), the City of Statesboro Mayor and 
Council hereby authorizes and orders that, during the seven days before and on the day of the first 
election following such change, notice of the change in the polling place for the Statesboro One 
voting precinct shall be posted on the previous polling place and at three other places in the 
immediate vicinity thereof, with each notice posted stating the location to which the polling place 
has been moved and directing electors to the new location, and at least one notice at the previous 
polling place shall be a minimum of four feet by four feet in size. 
 

Section 3.  All resolutions, actions, or parts thereof previously approved and adopted by 
the City of Statesboro Mayor and Council that are in conflict with the provisions contained in this 
resolution are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby superseded and repealed.  

 Section 4.  This resolution shall take effect commencing with the general election to be 
held on November 7, 2023 and shall remain in effect until repealed or superseded by further action 
of the City of Statesboro Mayor and Council. 

RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 18th day of April, 2023. 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO MAYOR AND 
COUNCIL  

 
       By:_________________________________  
            Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
       Attest:______________________________ 
            Leah Harden, City Clerk 
        
 
 

 



3 
 

EXHIBIT A 

NOTICE OF PROPOSED POLLING PLACE CHANGE 

In accordance with O.C.G.A. § 21-2-265, notice is hereby given that the following permanent 
change in the location of the polling place for the Statesboro One (S1) voting precinct has been 
proposed, said change, if approved, to take effect commencing with the general election to be held 
on November 7, 2023, and to remain in effect thereafter until further action regarding same by the 
Statesboro City Council. Current STATESBORO ONE PRECINT Polling Place:  William Jame 
Educational Complex, 150 Williams Road, Statesboro, GA 30458: Proposed New STATESBORO 
ONE PRECINT Polling Place: Luetta Moore Building, 585 Martin Luther King Jr. Drive, 
Statesboro, GA 30458. The Statesboro City Council will vote on this proposed change at a meeting 
to be held at 5:30 pm on Tuesday, April 18, 2023 in the Council Chambers at City Hall located at 
50 East Main Street, Statesboro, Georiga 30458. 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, MAYOR AND COUNCIL  
 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 





CITY OF STATESBORO

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Paulette Chavers, District 2 

Venus Mack, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Shari Barr, District 5 

Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence   Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone: (912) 764-5468  Fax: (912) 764-4691 

www.statesboroga.gov 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 

From: Justin Williams, Planning and Housing Administrator 

Date: April 13, 2023 

RE: April 18, 2023 

Policy Issue: Grant Application 

Recommendation: Consideration of approval of a resolution to award a 

contract to Gilbert & Associates to provide grant writing and administration 

services for the FY2023 Community Development Block Grant. 

Background: At the March 7, 2023 meeting city council approved staff to apply 

for an FY2023 Community Development Block Grant.  Following that meeting 

staff solicited a Request for Qualifications for grant administration services in 

accordance with the guidelines and regulations set forth by the Georgia 

Department of Community Affairs.  Following receipt of a single submittal on 

April 10, 2023 a City evaluation committee reviewed and evaluated proposals 

received and have selected Gilbert & Associates for recommendation of 

award.   

Budget Impact: To be paid by CDBG (grant) funds 

Council Person and District: Phil Boyum, District 1 

Attachments: Resolution 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


Resolution 2023-19: A RESOLUTION REQUESTING AWARD FOR GRANT 
ADMINISTRATION SERVICES FOR THE FY 2023 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK 

GRANT 

THAT WHEREAS, the Georgia Department of Community Affairs has announced the availability of FY2023 
Community Development Block Grant competitive grant funds which may be utilized for the improvement of 
public infrastructure; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro, having properly advertised a request for qualifications for grant 
administrative services for the application of the FY2023 Community Development Block Grant in accordance 
with regulations set forth by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs; and, 

WHEREAS, on one bid was received to provide services, and qualified City staff has reviewed the submittal 
and provided an informed recommendation of award in regard to the evaluation criteria set forth in the 
advertisement and request for qualifications documents; and, 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. That the City Council hereby authorizes the Mayor to execute a contract with Gilbert & 
Associates for grant administrative services for the FY2023 Community Development Block Grant, subject to 
the approval of contract documents by the city attorney. 

Section 2. That funding is conditioned upon grant approval and receipt of FY2023 Community 
Development Block Grant funding. 

Section 3. That the fees for grant administrative services for the FY2023 Community Development 
Block Grant are limited to the maximum amount established in the rules and regulations of the grant award 
as set forth by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs and shall be paid from grant funds awarded. 

Section 4. This Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its date of 
adoption. 

Adopted this 18th day of April, 2023. CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

_______________________________ 
By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

_______________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 
 

 

 
Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 • STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 
 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence    Certified City of Ethics  
Telephone: (912) 764-5468      Fax: (912) 764-4691                                                                   
www.statesboroga.gov  

To: Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

 
From: John Washington, Director – Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date: April 11, 2023 
 
RE: Recommendation of Award of Contract 
 
Policy Issue: Community Development Block (CDBG) 2023 Grant Application 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a motion for approval of a resolution to award a contract 
to WSP to provide professional engineering services for the 2023 Community Development 
Block Grant.   
 
Background: At the March 7, 2023 meeting city council approved staff to apply for an FY2023 
Community Development Block Grant.  Following that meeting staff solicited a Request for 
Qualifications for professional engineering services in accordance with the guidelines and 
regulations set forth by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs.  Following receipt of 
three submittals on April 10, 2023, a City evaluation committee reviewed and evaluated 
proposals received and have selected WSP for recommendation of award. 
 
WSP has successfully performed engineering services for CDBG projects and currently providing 
satisfactory engineering services for the Whitesville project. In 2022, the City was granted 
control of the Whitesville Park adjacent to Whitesville Full Gospel Church. As a newly 
established City Park, staff recommends the application of a multi-activity grant for 
improvements to the existing park, adjacent roadway Raymond Street Extension, and 
stormwater system that are needed in the area. WSP is familiar with the needs in the area and 
has prepared a concept plan for park improvements. 
 
Budget Impact: The following funding sources will be listed in the grant application: $200,000 
from ARPA Rehabilitation funds, $200,000 from ARPA funding for Whitesville Park, and 
$300,000 from TSPLOST. 
 
Council Person and District: Phil Boyum, District 1 
 
Attachments: CDBG Application Resolution 

http://www.statesboroga.gov/


RESOLUTION 2023 - 20:  A RESOLUTION APPROVING AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR PROFESSIONAL 
ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR THE 2023 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT 

THAT WHEREAS, the Georgia Department of Community Affairs has announced the availability of 
2023 Community Development Block Grant competitive grant funds which may be utilized for the 
improvement of public infrastructure; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro, having properly advertised a request for qualifications for 
professional engineering services for the application of the 2023 Community Development Block Grant in 
accordance with regulations set forth by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs; and, 

WHEREAS, a selection committee comprised of qualified City staff having reviewed the submittals 
received has provided an informed recommendation of award in regard to the evaluation criteria set forth 
in the advertisement and request for qualifications documents; and, 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of Statesboro, Georgia as 
follows: 

Section 1. That the City Council hereby authorizes the Mayor to execute a contract with WSP 
for professional engineering services for the 2023 Community Development Block Grant, subject to the 
approval of contract documents by the city attorney. 

Section 2. That funding is conditioned upon grant approval and receipt of FY2023 
Community Development Block Grant funding. 

Section 3. That the fees for professional engineering services for the 2023 Community 
Development Block Grant are limited to the maximum amount established in the rules and regulations of 
the grant award as set forth by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs and shall be paid from grant 
funds awarded. 

Section 4. This Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after its date 
of adoption. 

Adopted this 18th day of April, 2023. 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA  

_____________________________ 
By: Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

____________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



Statesboro Fire Department 
Proudly serving the City of Statesboro and 

surrounding communities since 1905! 
 

   

24 West Grady Street | Statesboro, GA 30458 
Phone: (912) 764-3473 | Fax: (912) 681-7205 

 

Timothy E. Grams 
Fire Chief 

Jonathan M. McCollar 
Mayor 

City Council Agenda Memorandum 
 
To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
 
From: Timothy E. Grams, Fire Chief 
 
Date:  4-11-2023 
 
RE: Purchase of Self Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA), SCBA Cylinders, and SCBA Face Pieces 
 
Policy Issue:  NA 
 
Recommendation: To allow the Statesboro Fire Department to purchase:  

- 3 Scott 3M X3 Pro Self Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA).  
- 18 Scott 3M 4500 SCBA Cylinders  
- 10 Scott SCBA Face Pieces. 

 
Background: The Fire Department utilizes Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA) to breath in 
hazardous situations that require supplemental air as opposed to ambient. The emergencies include any 
call that has a smoke-filled environment or is oxygen deficient. The Fire Department has budgeted for 
the replacement of outdated and non-compliant Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA) that have 
reached their end of use life. Through the State of Georgia contract, the purchase of 3 SCBAs, 18 
cylinders and 10 face pieces will utilize Fischer Scientific, which required no outside bid. The total 
purchase amount for this equipment is $44,768.42 
 
Budget Impact: This purchase will utilize funds from the 2019 SPLOST.  
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: None 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager  

 
From:   John Washington, Director of Public Works and Engineering 
 
Date:  April 13, 2023 
 
RE: Recommendation of Contract Award 

ENG-123c – West Main Intersection Improvements 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends award of the West Main Street Intersection contract to Atlas Technical Consultants, 
LLC (Atlas) in the amount of Not-To-Exceed (NTE) $399,800.00. The Agreement attached to this memo 
provides a breakdown of services to be provided. The bid received from Atlas meets the requirements of 
the bid package and an acceptable bid bond was submitted.  

Background:   
This project proposes to assess the intersections of West Main Street with Martin Luther King Jr. Drive 
and Johnson Street and provide a solution for realignment of roads entering these intersections. All 
three roadways at this intersection are major routes for city traffic and intersect at a skewed angle 
which also causes sight distance issues and long vehicle queues on Johnson St. and MLK. Further, there 
are drainage considerations with Little Lotts Creek and an adjacent railroad spur. This project will realign 
the intersections to improve intersection safety and efficiency, provide drainage infrastructure 
improvements, and include easements and parcel(s) acquisitions needed to complete the work. 
 
The City of Statesboro issued Requests for Proposals (RFP) for engineering services for the subject 
project. These request for proposals responses were evaluated and ranked on each qualification based 
on the criteria of cost, experience of staff, experience of firm and project approach. The contract will 
consist of two phases: Phase 1 will consist of survey data collection, traffic studies, Right-of-Way (ROW) 
acquisition, cost estimating, and concept plan development. Phase 2 will consist of final design and 
permitting, cost estimating, and construction document preparation for implementation of the project. 
Additionally, the consultant will provide property acquisition services for impacted parcels. 
 
Budget Impact: This project is to be paid from TSPLOST funds.  
 
Council Person and District: District 2, Councilmember Chavers 
 
Attachments: Agreement and Proposal 



1 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT  (Agreement”) is made and entered into this _18_ day of  April , 
2023 by and between the CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA hereinafter referred to as 
the "City", party of the first part, and Atlas Technical Consultants, Inc. , hereinafter referred 
to as "Contractor", party of the second part, 
 
 WITNESSETH 
 
 WHEREAS, and in consideration of the mutual benefits accruing to the parties 
hereto, the Contractor hereby agrees to perform, and City agrees to compensate Contractor 
for, all necessary services to provide Engineering Design Services for ENG-123c as 
described in the proposal dated January 27th , 2023 to the Central Services Department, 
which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein (the “Proposal”), and upon 
the terms and conditions hereinafter provided: 
 

1. That written proposal is attached hereto and hereby made a part of this Agreement 
(“Proposal”) and the services described in the Proposal are hereinafter referred to as 
"Scope of Services"; provided, however, that the parties acknowledge and agree that 
any and all completion dates set forth in the Proposal shall be adjusted by mutual 
written agreement of the parties to take account of the date, if any, by which this 
Agreement is executed by both parties. 

 
2. Contractor’s compensation for the services outlined in the Scope of  

Services shall be Not-To-Exceed (NTE) $399,800.00. 
 

Phase 1 
Survey        $10,300.00 
Concept Plans, Cost Estimate, Consultation with City  $75,000.00 
Subsurface Utility Engineering (SUE) Level B   $  6,000.00 
Direct Costs (Traffic Study, etc.)     $  4,500.00  
         $95,800.00 
Phase 2 
Final Plans, Permitting, and Cost Estimating   $234,000.00 
Public Involvement       $    3,500.00 
Right-of-Way Staking      $    3,500.00 
Direct Costs (labor, materials, fuel, etc.)    $    2,000.00 
         $243,000.00 
 
Right-of-Way Acquisition Services (NTE)    $61,000.00** 
 
*   (does not include parcel purchase) 
** (potentially this amount to be adjusted lower to reflect actual parcel count 
determined from final approved concept plan) 



2 
 

3. Contractor shall not perform any work that is clearly beyond the “Scope of 
Services” unless and until such work has been authorized in writing by the City of 
Statesboro.  Contractor’s compensation for work that is clearly beyond the “Scope 
of Services” shall be at a negotiated rate and in this instance, payment shall be 
made upon certified billing and progress reports to be made monthly to the City by 
Contractor for work performed during the preceding month, with payment to be 
made by the City within thirty (30) days from receipt of such billing.   
 

4. If any items in any invoices submitted by the Contractor are disputed by the City in 
good faith for any reason, including the lack of reasonable supporting 
documentation, City shall temporarily delete the item(s) and shall promptly notify 
Contractor of the dispute and request clarification and/or remedial action. After the 
dispute has been settled, Contractor shall include the disputed item on a 
subsequent regularly scheduled invoice or on a special invoice for the disputed 
item only.  The undisputed portion of the invoices shall, however, be paid within 
the normal 30-day period. 
 

5. The Contractor assumes full responsibility for the payment of all assessments, 
payroll taxes, or contributions, whether State or Federal, as to all Contractor’s 
employees engaged in the performance of work under this contract.  In addition, 
the Contractor agrees to pay any and all gross receipts, compensation, 
transaction, sales, use, or other taxes and assessments of whatever nature and 
kind levied or assessed as a consequence of the work performed or on the 
compensation paid under this contract; provided, however, that, in no event shall 
Contractor be responsible for payment of any taxes relating to the City’s income. 
 

6. Alterations, deletions, and/or additions to the terms and conditions of this contract 
may only be made by the mutual written consent of the parties.  
 

7. Any term or condition of the Contract which by operation or existence is in conflict 
with applicable Local, State, or Federal Law shall be rendered void and 
inoperative. City and the Contractor agree to accept the remaining terms and 
conditions. 

 
8. Should any part of this Agreement be declared unenforceable, all remaining 

sections shall remain in effect. 
 

9. This Agreement is made under, and in all respects shall be interpreted, 
construed, and governed by and in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
Georgia.  Venue for any legal action resulting from this Agreement shall lie in 
Bulloch County, Georgia. 

 
10. Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that they will not discriminate, with 

reference to work to be performed pursuant hereto, against any employee or 



3 
 

applicants because of age, race, color, religion, sex, disability, sexual orientation, 
genetic information or national origin. 

 
11. All data, materials, documents, notes, memoranda, intellectual property, and other 

information provided or disclosed by Contractor to City, or otherwise used by 
Contractor to provide or perform any Scope of Services, in connection with this 
Agreement shall be owned solely and exclusively by Contractor and shall constitute 
the confidential and proprietary information of Contractor for all purposes hereunder 
(all the foregoing, collectively, “Contractor’s Confidential Information”).  The City shall 
neither copy, nor disclose nor distribute to any third party, any of Contractor’s’ 
Confidential Information without Contractor’s prior written consent unless required to 
do so by the Georgia Open Records Act (O.C.G.A. § 50-18-70 et. seq.), other similar 
laws, in response to a court order, subpoena, or other legal process.  Prior to any 
such disclosure the City shall notify the Contractor.  Further, the City shall not use 
any such Contractor’s Confidential Information, except to the extent permitted 
hereunder.  The City’s obligations under this Section 11 shall survive any termination 
or expiration of this Agreement, and promptly after any such termination or expiration, 
or upon any request by Contractor, the City shall return to Contractor all such 
Contractor’s’ Confidential Information and all copies thereof unless the City is 
required by law to retain the documents.  In no event shall the City acquire any 
ownership or other rights in any Contractor’s Confidential Information, whether by 
implication or otherwise, except to the extent expressly set forth herein.  Subject to 
the foregoing in this Section 11, Contractor shall make available to the City all data, 
notes and memoranda completed during the Scope of Services and upon completion 
of the services will forward to the City the results of the Scope of Services for its use.    

 
12. This Agreement may be terminated by either party at any time and for any reason 

upon Thirty (30) days' prior written notice.  Upon termination Contractor shall be 
entitled to payment only for the actual cost of the work completed in conformity with 
this Agreement and any other costs actually incurred as are permitted by this 
Agreement.  

 
13. All claims, disputes and other matters arising out of or relating to this Agreement or 

the breach hereof shall be governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. 
 

14. Contractor agrees, on behalf of City, to comply with the requirements of the Fair 
Credit Reporting Act.  Contractor agrees to give notice to and obtain written 
authorization from every applicant prior to conducting any background investigation 
on said applicant. 

 
15. This Agreement is intended by the parties hereto to be the final expression of 

their Agreement, and it constitutes the full and entire understanding between the 
parties with respect to the subject hereof, notwithstanding any representations, 
statements, or agreements to the contrary heretofore made. 



4 
 

 



5 
 

WITNESS: CONTRACTOR LEGAL NAME  
 
 
 

_________________________________   Atlas Technical Consultants, LLC  
 

 
 
 
 
Recommended by: _______________________________________ 
                                       , City Manager 
 
 
         
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
 
ATTEST:      CITY OF STATESBORO 
 
 
 
 
 
By:__________________________ By: _________________________________ 
      Leah Harden, City Clerk       Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
 







































kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight





Have in house RR coordination

Have in house enviro

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight



kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight



kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight

kiara_martin
Highlight



kiara_martin
Highlight









 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To:  Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

 
From: Steve Hotchkiss, Director of Public Utilities 
 
Date:  4-13-2023 
 
RE: Recommendation of Low Bidder for Briarwood Road Water Main Extension 
 
Policy Issue: Purchasing 
 
Recommendation: Consideration of a Motion to Award a Contract to Y-Delta Inc. in the amount of 
$225,667.17 for the installation of approximately 1400’ of 8” water main to serve new construction on 
Briarwood and the Wastewater Treatment Plant Office. Project to be paid with system revenue funds 
approved in the FY2022 (carryover) CIP WWD-32a. 
 
Background: In order to provide adequate fire protection to new residential construction, an existing 
residence, existing offices, and the Wastewater Treatment Plant Office on Briarwood Road, we are 
recommending the installation of 1400lf of new 8” water main. This area is currently served by a small 
2inch “main” that does not provide adequate flow for fire protection in this area. 
 
The project was properly advertised and bid; however, only one bid was received from Y-Delta Inc in the 
amount of $225,667.17. Prior approved was provided by the city manager/assistant city manager to 
open one bid. The bid is above our original budget estimate of $150,000.00 but this is driven mostly by 
increased material and labor costs. 
 
Staff has reviewed the bid and determined the price is justified given the current economic conditions 
and time constraints with this project as new construction is underway in this area. 
 
Budget Impact: Approved in the CIP budget. Additional funds to come from Water Sewer Fund Balance. 
 
Council Person and District: District 5, Shari Barr 
 
Attachments: None 
 
 
 
  


	04-18-2023 Council Agenda
	Commedation and Life saving award presentation
	04-04-2023 Council Minutes
	Council Memo_&_Packet_APR_2023
	PSH Stadium
	PSH Stadium Development Memo
	Blue Mile Catering Memo 2 (1)

	PSH Stadium Application App
	PSH Stadium approvals

	Polling Place relocation
	Polling Place change memo
	Resolution Permanently Changing Location of Statesboro One Voting Polling Place
	affidave for polling

	CDBG Award Memo & Resolution
	CDBG_CC Memo_ENG_4-11-23
	CDBG 2023 Engineering Award Resolution
	RESOLUTION 2023 - 20:  A RESOLUTION APPROVING AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR THE 2023 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT

	City Council Memo-SCBA Purchase-4-11-2023
	Atlas - West main intersection improvements
	West Main Street Intersection CC Memo ENG-123c
	West Main Street Atlas Engingeering Services Contract -ENG-123c.doc
	AGREEMENT
	WITNESSETH
	Recommended by: _______________________________________
	, City Manager
	APPROVED AS TO FORM:
	I. Cain Smith, City Attorney
	ATTEST:      CITY OF STATESBORO

	West Main Street Atlas Proposal

	Briarwood Road Water Memo - sh
	Atlas - West main intersection improvements - reduce.pdf
	West Main Street Intersection CC Memo ENG-123c
	West Main Street Atlas Engingeering Services Contract -ENG-123c.doc
	AGREEMENT
	WITNESSETH
	Recommended by: _______________________________________
	, City Manager
	APPROVED AS TO FORM:
	I. Cain Smith, City Attorney
	ATTEST:      CITY OF STATESBORO

	West Main Street Atlas Proposal




